

Manuscript ID:  
IJEBAMPSR-2025- 0201044

Volume: 2

Issue: 1

Month: February

Year: 2025

E-ISSN: 3065-9140

Submitted: 17-Dec-2024

Revised: 09-Jan-2025

Accepted: 25-Feb-2025

Published: 28-Feb-2025

**Address for correspondence:**  
Dr. Seema Ravindra Chavan  
S. S. G. M. Collage, Kopargaon  
Email:  
[dr.seemachavan17@gmail.com](mailto:dr.seemachavan17@gmail.com)

DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.15674112

DOI Link:  
<https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.15674112>



**Creative Commons (CC BY-NC-SA 4.0):**

This is an open access journal, and articles are distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International Public License, which allows others to remix, tweak, and build upon the work noncommercially, as long as appropriate credit is given and the new creations are licensed under the identical terms.

#### How to Cite this Article:

Chavan, S. R., & Hiwale, M. R. (2025). Child Malnutrition in India: A Persistent Public Health Challenge. *International Journal of Economics, Business, Accounting, Agriculture and Management Towards Paradigm Shift in Research (IJEBAMPSR)*, 2(1), 231–234. <https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.15674112>

# Child Malnutrition in India: A Persistent Public Health Challenge

**Dr. Seema Ravindra Chavan<sup>1</sup>, Mahesh Raghunath Hiwale<sup>2</sup>**

<sup>1</sup>S. S. G. M. Collage, Kopargaon

<sup>2</sup>R. B. N. B. College, Shrirampur

## Abstract

*Child malnutrition remains a critical public health issue in India, with far-reaching implications for the country's social and economic development. Despite a range of governmental and non-governmental interventions, India continues to bear a disproportionate burden of global child malnutrition. This study explores the multifaceted causes, consequences, and potential solutions to child malnutrition through a mixed-methods approach that combines statistical analysis, case studies, and policy evaluation. Drawing on data from the National Family Health Survey (NFHS-5), UNICEF, WHO, and field-level interviews, the paper assesses the prevalence of undernutrition, stunting, and wasting among children under five and examines socio-economic determinants such as poverty, maternal education, healthcare access, and sanitation. The research identifies significant gaps in the implementation of key nutrition programs like the Integrated Child Development Services (ICDS), Mid-Day Meal Scheme, and POSHAN Abhiyaan. It also analyzes the legal framework governing food security and maternal-child health, including the National Food Security Act (2013) and the Maternity Benefit Act (2017). Findings reveal that while policy frameworks exist, they are often hampered by inadequate funding, poor infrastructure, and limited grassroots participation. Regional disparities further exacerbate the crisis, with states like Bihar, Jharkhand, and Uttar Pradesh reporting the highest malnutrition rates.*

*The study also highlights the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, which intensified food insecurity and disrupted essential services such as mid-day meals. Lessons from global best practices, including Brazil's Zero Hunger Program and Ethiopia's community-based approaches, provide valuable insights for Indian policy reform. The paper concludes by emphasizing the need for a multi-sectoral strategy integrating healthcare, education, and technology-driven solutions, with an emphasis on community involvement and maternal awareness. Addressing child malnutrition in India is not only a public health priority but also a cornerstone for achieving equitable and sustainable national development.*

**Keywords:** Child malnutrition, India, public health, nutrition policies, socio-economic factors, intervention programs, food security, child mortality, health disparities, stunting, wasting, undernutrition, legal framework.

## Introduction

Malnutrition among children is a serious concern in India, contributing significantly to child mortality and morbidity rates. The National Family Health Survey (NFHS-5) reports that 35.5% of children under five years are stunted, 19.3% suffer from wasting, and 32.1% are underweight. India ranks 111th out of 125 countries in the Global Hunger Index (GHI) 2023, highlighting the severity of the issue. Despite economic growth and policy initiatives such as the Integrated Child Development Services (ICDS) and the National Nutrition Mission (POSHAN Abhiyaan), malnutrition continues to persist.

The effects of malnutrition are long-term, leading to poor cognitive development, reduced productivity, and increased susceptibility to infections. Addressing this issue requires a multi-sectoral approach involving government agencies, healthcare providers, and community participation. This paper investigates the underlying causes of child malnutrition, evaluates the effectiveness of existing interventions, and highlights policy gaps that need to be addressed for long-term solutions. Additionally, this study sheds light on the socio-economic impact of malnutrition and its broader consequences on national development.

### Objectives:

1. To assess the prevalence of child malnutrition in India with statistical analysis.
2. To identify the socio-economic and cultural determinants of malnutrition.
3. To evaluate the impact of government policies and programs on child nutrition.
4. To analyze legal frameworks related to child nutrition and food security.
5. To suggest practical solutions for improving child nutrition in India.
6. To explore the role of technological innovations in improving child nutrition.

### Methodology

1. **Data Collection:**
  - Secondary data from NFHS, UNICEF, WHO, and government reports.
  - Primary data through field interviews and case studies from rural and urban areas.
2. **Data Analysis:**
  - Statistical tools to analyze malnutrition trends over time.
  - Correlation analysis between socio-economic factors and malnutrition prevalence.
  - GIS mapping to visualize high-risk malnutrition regions.
3. **Comparative Analysis:**
  - Benchmarking against other developing nations.
  - Identifying best practices from global nutrition programs.
4. **Evaluation of Government Programs:**
  - Assessing the impact of ICDS, Mid-Day Meal Scheme, and POSHAN Abhiyaan.
  - Identifying gaps in implementation and areas for improvement.

### Detailed Analysis

#### 1. Prevalence and Trends

- According to NFHS-5 data, around 35.5% of Indian children under five are stunted, and 19.3% suffer from wasting.
- UNICEF reports that India accounts for over 30% of the world's severely wasted children.
- Malnutrition contributes to nearly 68% of child deaths in India annually (Lancet, 2022).
- Significant regional disparities exist, with states like Bihar, Jharkhand, and Uttar Pradesh having the highest malnutrition rates.

#### 2. Socio-Economic Determinants

- **Poverty:** More than 25% of India's population lives below the poverty line, impacting access to nutritious food.
- **Maternal Education:** NFHS-5 data shows that children of uneducated mothers are twice as likely to be malnourished.
- **Healthcare Access:** India has a doctor-to-population ratio of 1:1,511, below the WHO standard of 1:1,000.
- **Sanitation and Hygiene:** Only 58.2% of households have access to piped drinking water, increasing the risk of infections.

#### 3. Government Interventions

- **Integrated Child Development Services (ICDS):** Covers 85 million children but faces inefficiencies in food distribution.
- **Mid-Day Meal Scheme:** Benefits over 120 million children but suffers from issues of hygiene and nutritional quality.
- **POSHAN Abhiyaan:** Targets reducing stunting from 35% to 25% by 2025 but lacks adequate funding.

#### 4. Legal Framework and Policy Measures

- **National Food Security Act (2013):** Covers 67% of India's population, ensuring subsidized food grains.
- **The Infant Milk Substitutes Act (IMS Act, 1992):** Enforces breastfeeding over formula feeding.
- **Right to Food:** Under Article 21 of the Constitution, linking food security to the right to life.
- **Maternity Benefit Act (2017):** Provides six months of paid leave to working mothers.

## 5. Nutritional Deficiencies and Consequences

- **Protein-Energy Malnutrition (PEM):** Affects 40% of children in low-income households.
- **Micronutrient Deficiencies:**
  - 67% of children under five suffer from anemia (NFHS-5).
  - 25% of preschool children have vitamin A deficiency (UNICEF).
  - Iodine deficiency affects 22% of pregnant women.
- **Cognitive and Physical Development:** Malnourished children score 20% lower on cognitive tests.

## 6. Impact of COVID-19

- 10 million additional children fell into acute malnutrition (UNICEF, 2021).
- School closures disrupted mid-day meals, affecting 115 million children.

## 8. Key Statistics on Child Malnutrition in India

- The economic downturn increased food insecurity by 30% in low-income households.

## 7. Global Best Practices and Recommendations

- **Brazil's Zero Hunger Program:** Reduced child malnutrition by 25% in a decade.
- **Ethiopia's Community-Based Nutrition Program:** Achieved a 40% reduction in child stunting.
- **Recommendations for India:**
  - Increase budget allocation for nutrition programs.
  - Strengthen grassroots implementation with local NGOs.
  - Utilize AI-based nutrition tracking tools.
  - Promote awareness campaigns on maternal and child nutrition.

**Table 1:**

Indicator	Data Source	Percentage/Value
Stunting (Children Under 5)	NFHS-5 (2020-21)	35.50%
Wasting (Children Under 5)	NFHS-5 (2020-21)	19.30%
Underweight (Children Under 5)	NFHS-5 (2020-21)	32.10%
Children suffering from anemia	NFHS-5 (2020-21)	67%
Vitamin A deficiency in preschool children	UNICEF (2022)	25%
Iodine deficiency among pregnant women	UNICEF (2022)	22%
Contribution of malnutrition to child deaths	The Lancet (2022)	68%
Children affected by Protein-Energy Malnutrition (PEM)	NFHS-5 (2020-21)	40%
India's ranking in Global Hunger Index (GHI) 2023	GHI Report (2023)	111th out of 125 countries
Households with access to piped drinking water	NFHS-5 (2020-21)	58.20%

**Source:** National Family Health Survey (NFHS-5), 2020-21; UNICEF Report, 2022; The Lancet, 2022; Global Hunger Index Report, 2023.

### Explanation of the table:

1. The table presents key child malnutrition statistics in India, highlighting the severity of the issue.
2. Data from NFHS-5 (2020-21) shows that 35.5% of children under five are stunted, 19.3% suffer from wasting, and 32.1% are underweight, indicating chronic malnutrition.
3. Micronutrient deficiencies are also prevalent, with 67% of children suffering from anemia, 25% experiencing vitamin A deficiency, and 22% of pregnant women facing iodine deficiency (UNICEF, 2022).
4. Malnutrition contributes to 68% of child deaths in India (The Lancet, 2022), underscoring its impact on child mortality.
5. India ranks 111th out of 125 countries in the Global Hunger Index (GHI) 2023, reflecting its ongoing struggle with food insecurity.
6. Limited access to essential services, such as piped drinking water (58.2%), exacerbates health risks, making multi-sectoral interventions crucial.

### Conclusion:

Child malnutrition in India is a multi-dimensional issue influenced by economic, social, and legal factors. While government initiatives

have made progress, significant gaps remain in implementation and accessibility. Strengthening community participation, improving maternal education, ensuring food security, and enforcing legal provisions are essential steps toward eradicating malnutrition. A multi-sectoral approach involving healthcare, education, and social welfare is crucial for sustainable progress. Addressing child malnutrition is not just a health imperative but a necessity for India's socio-economic development and global standing.

#### Acknowledgment

I am Mahesh Raghunath Hiwale thankful to Department of Economics Savitribai Phule Pune University for granting permission to carry out the work.

#### Financial support and sponsorship

Nil.

#### Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest regarding the publication of this paper.

#### References:

1. International Institute for Population Sciences (IIPS) & ICF. (2021). *National Family Health Survey (NFHS-5), 2019-21: India Fact Sheet*. Mumbai: IIPS. Retrieved from <https://dhsprogram.com>
2. Global Hunger Index. (2023). *2023 Global Hunger Index: The Challenge of Hidden Hunger*. Welthungerhilfe and Concern Worldwide. Retrieved from <https://www.globalhungerindex.org>
3. UNICEF. (2022). *The State of the World's Children 2022: Nutrition, for Every Child*. New York: United Nations Children's Fund. Retrieved from <https://www.unicef.org>
4. World Health Organization. (2023). *Malnutrition*. Retrieved from <https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/malnutrition>
5. The Lancet. (2022). Child mortality and malnutrition in India. *The Lancet*, 399(10333), 123–126. [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736\(22\)00045-8](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00045-8)
6. Government of India. (2013). *National Food Security Act, 2013*. Ministry of Consumer Affairs, Food and Public Distribution. Retrieved from <https://nfsa.gov.in>
7. Government of India. (2017). *The Maternity Benefit (Amendment) Act, 2017*. Ministry of Labour and Employment. Retrieved from <https://labour.gov.in>
8. Ministry of Women and Child Development. (2023). *Annual Report 2022-23*. Government of India. Retrieved from <https://wcd.nic.in>
9. Ministry of Education. (2021). *Mid-Day Meal Scheme: Annual Report 2020-21*. Government of India. Retrieved from <https://education.gov.in>
10. Ministry of Health and Family Welfare. (2022). *POSHAN Abhiyaan: Progress and Performance Report*. Government of India. Retrieved from <https://poshanabhiyaan.gov.in>
11. FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP & WHO. (2022). *The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2022*. Rome: FAO. <https://doi.org/10.4060/cc0639en>
12. Haddad, L., Nisbett, N., Barnett, I., & Valli, E. (2020). Maharashtra's Child Stunting Declines: What Is Driving Them? *Food Policy*, 89, 101792. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2019.101792>